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The Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM counts with a
protection or buffer zone that guarantees its preservation from the urban pressure
Mexico City suffers. This buffer zone can be divided in two categories: the first one
is mainly a transition zone between the Core Area and the urban area; we
denominate Urban-Protection Buffer Zone. The second one is a protection zone
with environmental value declared by the UNAM as the Ecological Reserve of
University City?; we denominate Environmental-Value Buffer Zone.

Justification

The most important lineaments of the architectural thinking from the 20th century
converge on the Campus central de Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM: the Modemn
Architecture, the Historicist Regionalism, and the Plastic Integration; the last two
from Mexican origin.

Since its conception, it promoted the Modern Architecture maturity in Latin America
with local accents, and became a decisive factor that urge the engineering growth
towards construction, related to the quality of materials, and to methods for the
planning, control and development of superlative magnitude constructions.

The monumentality value remains due to the scale and position of its architectonic
elements, buildings, squares, staircases, and gardens; as a constant referent to
the pre-Columbian architecture, as well as for the punctual inclusion of basic
Modern Architecture themes.

The urban project that mastered the setting of the complex follows the Athens
Charter content, as an ideology that seeks the revaluation of the human being
within the new cities; and also because the strength of the relationship with the pre-
Columbian urbanism has been maintained. This demonstrates that for the Modern
culture of Mexico the comprehension of its history remains as an important matter.



Supported by ornamental gardening the landscape design is work of Luis
Barragan'; author also of a piece already registered on the UNESCO World
Heritage List that has become an important referent for the development of
Mexican Contemporary Architecture, which introduces influences from the
European Racionalist, Neoplasticist and Constructivist Architecture to the Mexican
local and traditional architecture.

The landscape design proposed by Luis Barragan for the Campus central involved
two unique conditions: the use of the native and exotic vegetation from the volcanic
zone, and the use of abstraction as a composition tool, abstraction is a quality of
the avant-garde art of the 20th century.

The Campus central de Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM is one of the few models
around the world where the principles proposed by the Modern Architecture and
Urbanism were totally applied; which ultimate purpose was to offer man a notable
improvement over the quality of life.

It is an outstanding exampie of Modern Architecture, and of local solutions given to
the appropriation of cultural history subject. The importance of both arguments lies
in their correspondence with exceptional humankind historical moments of the 20th
century: the end of a war, and the maturity of the Mexican generation that was born
under the Mexican Revolution.

It is besides, an example of the Mexican engineering advancement that made
possible, without foreign intervention, the domain over the Pedregal territory, and
the complete edification of the complex in a period of three years.

The image of its landscape, compound by the architectural silhouette and its open
spaces peculiarity, is part of the collective imaginary, and points the validity of the
following values: Modernity, Culture and Society, Art and collectiveness, Plurality
and thought.

Statement of Outstanding Universal Value

(text should clarify what is considered to be the outstanding universal value
embodied by the nominated property)

Once analyzing the several processes that occurred (cultural, social, historic,
political, etc) since the conception of the Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria
de la UNAM in 1946, through its construction and opening in 1952, until the
present time, is possible to identify the most significant exceptionality values that
the Campus contains, described as follows:

Historicals:

Campus central is the physic concretion of many University members' longings to
unite the University facilities that were spread around the Historical Center of
Mexico City since its origin during the Hispanic time.



It represents the Mexico National Autonomous University presence in the country
for more than 450 years.

This is the Campus Central of the most antique University in the American
continent and its influence over all Latin America remains in the present time.

Urban-architectonics:

The open space, the setting and the spatial relation among the Campus buildings
appear as a tribute to the pre-Hispanic Mexico, and also, as a promise towards its
future.

The composition of the Campus maintains certain similarities with some pre-
Hispanic cities layout elements, as the main axis from the Death Road in
Teotihuacan and the asymmetric balance of the Monte Alban Main Plaza.

The modern urbanism and functionalism paradigms from the first half of the 20th
century are exemplified in this Campus.

The Campus has architectural exceptionality value due to the syncretism
presented by its buildings, where the Mexican architectural tradition its
harmonically combined with the most demanding postulates of the International
Modern Architecture.

Together with Brasilia and Chandingarh, the Campus is one of the few sites around
the world where the Modern Architecture doctrine could be integrally expressed,
described in basic and international documents as the Athens Charter.

The latter constitutes a unique value and an example of a mayor scale enterprise
fulfillment.

The group formed by the Campus central buildings is still a quotable example of
the interrelation with the urban context

Socials:

University City is in itself an evocation of the modern man, of the site, and its
history. Its creation is the same as for the Modern Mexican, it reflects the continuity
of the pos-Revolutionary Process.

The Campus has social exceptionality value because it represents the importance
of the agreements that allowed its construction.

The Campus still operates pursuing the higher education, research, and culture
transmission aims that was planed for.

University City belongs to a group of Mexican Architectonic Pieces that symbolize
the transformation of society's life through shapes and spaces from the Modern
Architecture.



Within Latin America the Campus remains as a symbol of the intellectual and
artistic effort, during the second lustrum of the 1940s, for consolidating the cultural
independence by using, among several resources, the language of Modern
Architecture.

This project remains as a significant evidence of the importance that had for Latin
America the critical revision of its history, after one hundred years of
independence; which renew the confidence over its own economic, technique, and
interrelation forces.

Its social exceptionality prevails demonstrating within Latin America, regional
examples for own versions of the Modern Architecture, where the important issue
is the creative local interpretation of the principles that were impelled due to their
international significance.

The Campus has a regional social exceptionality value because it represents the
regional longing of separating from the North American architectural models in
order to achieve the recognition of the local plastic projects.

Universally, the Campus represents the possibility of maintaining the main topics of
the pre-Hispanic urbanism within the contemporary world.

University City remains as a witness of the proposal made, during the 1940s
decade, in order to renovate the emotive condition of architecture through its
association with mural painting.

Symbolic-aesthetic:

The aesthetic and social relevance are revealed through the plastic integration on
the Campus architecture. The merge of architecture and plastic placed the
complex into an ancestral and modern space of time, represented on its murals;
Muralism is an integral element of architecture. The same way that in the antique
Mexican times the codices were used.

Muralism is a clear artistic representation of the searching for a new national
identity.

The presence of the murals as a part of architecture is a testimony of the harmonic
coexistence according to the plastic postulates: Plastic Integration and New
Monumentality Manifest. Of European origin and formulated by Sigfried Giedion,
Ferdinand Leger and Josep Lluis Sert.

It posses a universal aesthetic value because several artistic currents coexist
within its territory, and remains as a live testimony of the p/urality that most reign in
every social enterprise. Among the Campus central the following architectural
discourses have lived together and supported themselves mutually:



Internationalism (European Modern Architecture), Regionalism (the use of local
materials), Mesoamerican geometry rigor (the Handball Courts and the Stadium),
Abstractionism (master plan and the gardening layout)

Intangibles:

The Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM is directly linked to the
work of outstanding individuals internationally recognized by their contributions into
several knowledge fields; scientists and humanists have received the highest level
prizes, as the Nobel; artists that have left an invaluable artistic heritage for
mankind, and promoted the Mexican culture by using original and expressive
languages from the 20th century, such as Muralism.

It has universal value, because it demonstrates the importance that continuity and
permanence of education and cultural institutions has, despite the political and
social adversities suffered by the mankind.

University City has universal intangible value since its images, especially the ones
proceeding form the Central Library building, have become universal paradigms
for. Modernity, Culture, Knowledge, Progress

Technological:

The Campus central continues demonstrating the importance that has, for every
material project that identifies a society, the participation of technology in all of its
different domains: physics, chemistry, engineering, and others.

More than fifty years after its creation, the Campus continues as an example of the
interdisciplinary collaboration that prevailed among the consulters and specialists
in different knowledge fields.

Environmental:
The outstanding environmental value of the Campus refers to the University validity
as an example of sustainability and ecological development before the city, by

maintaining the vastest Pedregal Ecological Reserve within all Mexico City.

University City maintains and preserves within its limits a unique Ecological
Reserve that has already been declared under protection.

The central space of the Campus central allows to the meeting and coexistence of
the University community and the original natural conditions of the site.



Criteria under which property is nominated (itemize criteria)

The Campus central de Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM is exceptional and
contents universal value because its presence and symbols are direct and
materially associated to the history of the Mexico National Autonomous University;
the first one in the American continent and founded in 1554, thereafter it has
become the backbone of the Mexican culture, and also an influence for most of the
Universities over the continent.

Since its origin, Mexico National Autonomous University has occupied the first
places among the Hispanic world universities, demonstrating recently its high
quality educational and cultural leadership by taking part in the best one hundred
international universities group and heading the list of the Hispanic Universities.

Its presence and symbols constantly refer to the quality of thought of grand
science, arts and humanities celebrities within the national and international
panorama. Examples of these worldwide influences are the individuals whom direct
and materially have been linked to the UNAM and have been regarded with the
most important international prizes: Alfonso Garcia Robles / Politician and Peace
Nobel Prize 1982, Octavio Paz / Poet and Literature Nobel Prize 1990, Mario
Molina Enriquez / Chemist and Chemistry Nobel Prize 1995, Ana Maria Cetto /
Physicist and Peace Nobel Prize (shared) 2005

Name and contact in information of official local institution/agency
Organization: (Coordinacién de Proyectos Especiales)

Address: Agua 130

Tel: 152000 00

Fax: 15 20 00 00 ext 120

E-mail:

Web address:
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Olympic Stadium aereal view
Photograph. 1954. cma
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ldentification of the property

a. Country

Mexico

b. State, Province or Region

Mexico City

c. Name of the Property

Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM'

d. Geographical coordinates to the nearest second

The unAM University City is located to the south of Mexico City, in a zone

named “El Pedregal”, which belongs to de Political District of Coyoacan.

Latitude: N 19° 19' 56"

Longitude: W 99° 11" 17"

Altitude: 2,278 meters above sea level

Page. 8-9
Campus central aereal view.
Photograph. 1953. cMA

Page. 10-11
Campus central aereal view.
Photograph. 2004. RC & HL

Page. 12

Architecture School workshops and
Dean Tower at the back.
Photograph ca. 1954. rs

Page. 14
Central Library and Dean Tower.
Photograph 2005. os

T Mexico National
Autonomous University
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Mexico City
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e. Maps and plans, showing the boundaries of the nomi-
nated property and buffer zone

The Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria de la UNAM counts with a pro-

tection or buffer zone that guarantees its preservation from the urban pressure

Mexico City suffers.
f. Area of nominated property (ha.) and proposed buffer
zone (ha).

Core Area: 176.5 hectares.

Buffer Zone: 69.5 hectares

Total: 246 hectares



i 'i.'{ﬁrﬁ_'-"-l’ .‘_f“j' i, .;:
ol Y A

W il 5

ey At X

- T
S PR T

Campus de Ciudad Universitaria R
Universidad Nacional Autonoma de México BNCECE o

Prayaccae UTH
Gamcde o redorpecin GRS
Db g LR

L

100 O 100 200 300 400 500 Melros
™ ™

Universidad Nacional Auténoma de México



AMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

CORE ZONE e i i

BUFFER ZONE n—

Trar—msnr e TRAT § MY

Campus de Ciudad Universitaria
Universidad Nacional Autonoma de México AR

Prayaccae UTH
Gamcde o redorpecin GRS

[ —

S [T om0

100 O 100 200 300 400 500 Melros
™ ™

Universidad Nacional Auténoma de México




f=
LL-‘"-'«‘::_;. -
- L\:_ .=

=]

."_;-.14-

WA L
Line! b
e

a L]

i ,:r:

‘e

T
—mdlf,

ot
..-'_\."".-'_ “
L LI E

CORE ZONE . |
BUFFER ZONE s
ECOLOGICAL RESERVE mummmm |4

Campus de Ciudad Universitaria
Universidad Nacional Autonoma de México

Db bmrgeree GHER
L

100 0 100 200 300 400 500 Metros

Universidad Nacional Auténoma de México




CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

o K

b
-

qumm- -
ey o J——

-

Y L0,

e




Identification of the property 23

LR MEXIROR RERSFOTE, 5. 1.




- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

Page. 22-23
Four Campus central aereal views.
Fotos. 1953. cmA

Campus Central Zoning

The buildings and open spaces of the Campus central are divided into three

mayor zones, denominated as:

-School Zone

-Sports Fields

-Olympic Stadium

School Zone

Since the original project the buildings occupied by the main schools and serv-
ices are cluster towards a grand dominant central plaza that functions as a back-
bone element; this buildings can be subdivided into five groups: Government and
Services, Humanities, Sciences, Biological Sciences and Arts. The complete zone is
surrounded by a vehicular circuit; internally the buildings are linked by pedestri-
an paths, and externally are linked to other University facilities by the vehicular
circuit and several pedestrian ways.

I. Government and services. The buildings in this area are close to Insurgentes
Avenue, both guarding and standing for the University before de city. This group
is composed by the University headquarters settled in the Dean Tower and next to
the north the Central Library. Surrounding the Dean Tower various esplanades at
different levels accentuate the main axis; which runs perpendicular to the
Insurgentes Avenue crossing through the whole Campus central. In this group are
also included as services facilities the former Central Club and the shopping zone.

[l. Humanities. Set on the northern side of the main axis and parallel to it, this
is a huge body that includes the Faculties of Philosophy and Arts, Law and
Economics.

[ll. Biological Sciences. In this group one can find the Dentistry and Medicine
School. These buildings are set around a smaller esplanade than the central plaza,

located at the east, which accents the axiality of the Campus.
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Campus Central Zoning

A = SCHOOL ZONE
B = SPORTS FIELDS
C = OLYMPIC STADIUM

. GOVERNMENT AND SERVICES
. HUMANITIES

I11. BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

IV. SCIENCES

School Zone Zoning V. ARTS
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IV. Sciences. This group was originally composed by the Science School and
Institutes, as well as Chemistry and Engineering. Currently the Science School
moved to the outskirts of the Core Zone; in the group remains the Chemistry and
Engineering Schools, now together with the Postgraduate Architecture School and
the Humanities Tower II.

V. Arts. Composed by the University Sciences and Arts Museum (MUCA) and
the School of Architecture; the latter counts with a series of small buildings called
“Talleres" (workshops) disposed scatterly in a space between the main building of

Architecture and the Faculty of Engineering.

Sports Fields

Since the original design this zone maintains a close relation with the School
Zone and the dormitory. At the south and west of the Core Zone the sports area
is located, constituted by platforms at different levels is especially suitable for the
settlement of the sport camps. Here is also possible to find the Olympic Pool, and
the Handball courts. The building originally intended as the dormitory is found

west and overlooks a mayor view of the Campus.

Olympic Stadium

The Olympic Stadium was conceived to suit the Pedregal unique landscape,
trying to evoke the idea of a volcanic crater. It is where the main axis of the
Campus Central ends at the west, and is surrounded by a mayor promenade that
allows people to enter and leave the construction in a short period of time. The
Stadium has become a reference inside the Campus and together with the Dean

Tower and its foundation a reference in Mexico City.
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Description

a. Description of the property

General Description

University City is located in the area called “El Pedregal”, in the southern part
of Mexico City. Is a place covered by lava proceeding from several eruptions from
the volcano known as “Xitle", which started erupting more than six thousand years
ago; the last of which was recorded close to the year 70 b.c.

In this place, one of the most ancient American pre-Columbian cultures set-
tled. We can see some traces in the circular pyramid in Cuicuilco that witnesses
the exceptional cultural, social and artistic conditions that derive from the con-
templation of this determining landscape.

This rocky, peculiar, and exotic landscape is formed by a unique flora in the
Valley of Mexico, among which lichens, ferns, moss, palo-bobo and peppertrees
are found mainly. This site has attracted many artists known worldwide such as
the painter and muralist Diego Rivera and the architect Luis Barragan. The latter
conceived what was later known worldwide as the "Mexican Garden", contempo-
rary par excellence in the housing estate named “Jardines del Pedregal de San
Angel”; which became, also as Campus Central, an urban design paradigm in
Mexico and in the whole American Continent.

In 1942 it was decided that the University City would be constructed over this
volcanic landscape. The terrain was in the northern zone of that rocky land -the
closest to the city metropolitan area at that time- and consisted of seven million
square meters, crossed at some point by the Insurgentes Avenue; which runs
across Mexico City from north to south connecting it to the road system of the
entire country; this gave the Campus a privileged emplacement in the City as well

as in the whole country.

29

Page. 28
Dean Tower Basement
Photograph 2004. uLs




Page. 31 top

Campus Grand Central Plaza and
Dean Tower, Central Library and
Olympic Stadium at the back
Photograph 1994. Lc

Page. 31 below

Sample garden of the “Jardines del
Pedregal” Housing project
Photograph 1953. Asp

T Luis Barragan has been the most
renowned Mexican architect
around the world. He received the
Pritzker Prize in 1980, and his
study-home, located in Tacubaya
(Mexico City) is part of the UNES-
CO World Heritage List since 2004.
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University City was placed over a series of "rocky platforms" that left well-
defined spaces. These platforms suggested the urban-architectural party adopted
finally by the Master Plan; work of architects Mario Pani and Enrique del Moral in
1951.

The main element of this general party is an east-west axis that is superim-
posed perpendicular to the axis of Insurgentes Avenue. Thus, Campus central in its
original concept, is constituted by three large areas that are divided in the follow-
ing way: the Olympic Stadium, the dormitory and part of the sports fields are
found west of Insurgentes Avenue; to the east the School Zone, General Services,
the Civic Center; and the third area is composed by rest of the sports fields such
as the Olympic Pool and the Handball Courts. More than sixty modern Mexican
architects worked together on the final project in order to create one of the most
emblematic complexes of modern Mexico.

The Campus Central has large open spaces that allows the appreciating of
buildings and their relationship with the place, constituting a spatial urban-archi-
tectural evocation of the grand pre-hispanic ceremonial centers such as Monte
Alban, where the connection between large buildings and open spaces merges by
means of staircases, ramps and different floor levels in order to achieve harmony
with the human scale. This relation between open space and construction has an
immediate reference to urban paradigms and ideals of modernity, proposed by Le
Corbusier and Hilberseimer.

All the Campus central buildings are arranged around large open spaces,
esplanades, patios and sunken gardens that are an example of the conquest of
space by the pedestrian, leaving vehicle circulation in the outskirts. There are tran-
sition areas that provoke harmony between human scale and monumentality,
among the parking lots and the mayor open spaces.

The pavement changes and the variation between the floor levels organized the
different uses for public open spaces. The landscapes and exteriors were design by
the recognized architect Luis Barragan1. He used several materials, making their
plastic value stand out, for organizing the activities of the inhabitants; plazas and
staircases have volcanic rock pavement that integrates the constructed surface with
the site; the pavement for the cover and uncover pedestrian ways is in red concrete
or big press-brick pieces that make easer to walk in and emphasis the paths; mean-

while the contemplative and lounge areas are covered by large grass spaces.
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Page. 32-33 top
Stone staircase

in the Campus Central
Photograph 2003.

Page. 32-33 below

Esplanade in front of Dean Tower
and Central Library.

Photograph 2003.

The road system is structured by circuits; the main circuit, mention already,
surrounds the School Zone, a second one constrains the complete three mayor
complex areas, and one more circuit connects with the new Campus areas. These
circuits are crossed by pedestrian overpasses that intend not to interrupt both
pedestrian and vehicle flow. Besides being contained by circuits, the three large
areas of the complex are connected among themselves, generating a certain traf-

fic that vitalizes University City since its original conception to the present day.

The Architecture of Campus central buildings

The architecture found in the Campus central de la Ciudad Universitaria de la
UNAM is the physical concretion of the Mexican post-revolutionary cultural and
social policy, and of the interest on the social development through education and
culture.

Campus central shows clearly how the International Modern Architecture pos-
tulates and the traditional Mexican architecture can be expound.

The selection of materials was made based on a maximum durability and unity
criteria; they were used by every author in a singular and creative way, and rep-
resent both, modernity and tradition. Used as a finish texture and as a part of
some buildings' structure, the volcanic rock evokes the tectonic strength of the
volcanic stratum, the deep root with the site, and the millenary Mexican past; all
this represented in the Handball Courts and the Olympic Stadium, pieces that
show abstraction and forceful geometric rigor. The first ones emulate the tradi-
tional pre-Hispanic ball game and the latter is born as a unique "crater” inside this
volcanic landscape. All the rock used for the construction was directly mined from
a quarry inside the own site. The steel and glass show the technological innova-
tion and the moment of modernity the country was living. The reinforced concrete
is combined with the other materials synthesizing the influence of the
Lecorbusierian models, and in the Campus architecture is taken to its plastic limit
as on the Cosmic Ray Pavilion; which reflects the experimental work of the archi-
tect Felix Candela over light concrete structures all around Mexico. Colored glazed
brick functions as an element that provides unity in the complex and gives the

idea of maximum durability and conservation.
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The University City architecture discloses another particular condition; a recur-
rent subject in Mexican history, the plastic integration. Pre-Columbian cultures
over the Mexican territory already presented art as an important element in archi-
tecture and urban space, exemplified by the Mayas in their constructions of Uxmal
and Chichen Itza or by the Teotihuacans on their Quetzalcoatl Temple. The same
happened with the Campus Central buildings, were artists participated since the
very beginning, conceiving art and architecture as a whole. A large number of the
most important painters, muralist and sculptors of that particular moment in

Mexican art participated on the project.

Engineering School with Dean Tower
and Central Library
Photograph 1988. A & RH
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School Zone

|. Government and Services
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Dean Tower

Designed by the architects Mario Pani, Enrique del Moral and Salvador Ortega,
the Dean Tower is found in the most important plaza of the complex, the one of
the access; is vertically erected for representing the University government and for
overlooking the School Zone. Located at the east side of Insurgentes Avenue also
emphasizes the main longitudinal east-west axis. This access to the Campus cen-
tral has a hierarchy inside the complex by means of the twelve-story tower and its
horizontal foundation that is aligned with Insurgentes Avenue.

The building is surrounded on its four sides by large promenades at different
levels, carefully studied and highlighted by staircases that remind us of the pre-
Hispanic urban space of large ceremonial centers; a water pond that looks west
reflects the tower and the foundation over its horizontal surface.

The plastic value of the building was achieved by marking the function of
every element in the facades and volume, by means of the materials used: onyx,
steel, glass and glazed clay, which gave the regional convenient character to the

place and to the building destiny.

The basement is a volume developed in horizontal sense; its laterals are cov-
ered by a rocky translucent characteristic material in Mexico named onix, which
provides an ochre hue and a singular light to its interiors. The interior is used as a
public area, at north it intercepts with the tower and functions as the main lobby.
The tower is composed by 12 floors devoted to offices visited by a smaller public,
were can be found the University Council Hall and the Dean offices. The external
part of this volume has three facades composed entirely by steel and glass, the
north, the east and the south; leaving the western facade for services and vertical
communications covered by glazed clay brick; over this side, which faces
Insurgentes Avenue, is found the unam emblem, designed by a request of Jose
Vasconcelos to Jorge Enciso, shows the motto: “Por mi raza hablara el espiritu”
(the spirit will speak on behalf of my race) next to an eagle, a condor and the Latin
America map.

This building represents the Mexican architectonic modernity through the
tower of steel and glass and the esthetic and formal tradition by the onix base-

ment, intertwined by the glazed clay elements.

Description 41

Page. 36-37

Dean Tower, basement,

and David Alfaro Siqueiros mural
Photograph 2005. sp

Page. 38

Campus Central view from the
Olympic Stadium.

Photograph 2005. os

Page. 40
Dean Tower and basement.
Photograph 2005. os
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The Dean Tower has three murals by David Alfaro Siqueiros done between 1952
and 1956. The most important of the three is at the southern part of the base-
ment, catalogued as a “sculpture-painting”, named “El pueblo a la universidad, la
universidad al pueblo. Por una cultura nechumanista de profundidad universal”
(The people to the university, the university to the people. For a neo-humanistic
culture of universal depth), and performed with steel structures covered by
cement and colored glazed tiles. In this three-dimensional piece he shows
advancements for the muralism due to perspective and its position within the
Campus. The second one is named: “Las fechas en la historia de México o el dere-
cho a la cultura” (The dates in Mexican history or the right to culture) placed on
the north side of the tower, flanks the Campus Central access axis that comes
from the Olympic Stadium and introduces into the grand central plaza. The third
is a piece that covers completely the only body that overhangs from the tower,
which is the University Council Hall, named: “Nuevo simbolo universitario” (New
university symbol), here Siqueiros takes the eagle and the condor from the

University emblem and geometrically stylizes them.

Dean Tower
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Page. 42

Dean Tower main esplanade and
water pond.

Photograph 2005. uts

Page. 44
Dean Tower plans
(original drawings. 1951)

Page. 45

Dean Tower and basement.
(interior promenade)
Photograph 2005. os

Dean Tower basement plan
(original drawing. 1951)

Planta Basamento
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Page. 47 top

Central Library view from the main
esplanade.

Photograph 2004. uLs

Page. 47 below

Central Library view from the main
esplanade with the Humanities
Tower at the back.

Photograph 2004. uLs

Page. 48
Central Library and water pond.
Photograph 2003. os

Page. 49
Basament plan and module plan.
(original drawing 1951)

2. The Diego Rivera and Frida
Kahlo study-houses, designed by
Juan O'Gorman are in the "Mexico
Heritage and its universal value"
Indicative List from 2004. World
Heritage Office, Mexico.
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Central Library

Undoubtedly, this is the building that represents best the Mexican modernity,
here the dichotomy between tradition and modernity is overtaken due to the mix-
ture of international architecture postulates and regional elements. Designed by
the architect and painter Juan 0'Gorman, the Central Library is —with the Diego
Rivera and Frida Khalo Studio-Houses (1931)2, designed also by O'Gorman- the
most internationally published building of the Modern Mexican Architectural
Period; because is the aesthetic paradigm generated by University City, that under
the name of plastic integration proposed a aesthetic total unit conformed by
architecture, painting and sculpture, a utter piece of art.

The volumetric of the building is composed basically by two bodies: a horizon-
tal basement that extends to the center of the Campus central and forms one of
the most important staircases of the grand central plaza, here is possible to find
the entrance to the building, as also an external patio constrained by huge vol-
canic rock walls; the other element is a ten-story quadrangular prism that erects
from the horizontal basement.

This building represents the custody of knowledge and is positioned northeast
of the Dean Tower, creating a hierarchy for the most important area of the
Campus central through knowledge and government. Each of the library's facades
are covered by a large mosaic made with natural multi-colored stone collected by
0'Gorman himself during several trips around the country. In four thousand
square meters, Juan O'Gorman shaped the conception of the two worlds; the pre-
Hispanic, represented by the festive and terrible spirit of ancient Mexicans and the
symbol of Tenochtitlan founding; and the Hispanic cosmos expressed by means of
coats of arms and conventional shapes, as well as by an architectural mass of tem-
ples; the peculiar duality of the conquest and evangelization. These two worlds got
together in the north on behalf of nationality and on the south on behalf of the
University.

The Central Library leads a system of specialized and immediate query libraries
of smaller scale scattered in every School or Faculty around the Campus. It gives
service not only to students lodged by University City, but also to the population

of studious people and researchers of Mexico City.
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Page. 50-51
Central Library
Photograph 2005. sp

Pag 53.
Central Library access.
Photograph 2005. AA & RH

Reading room in the interior of
the Central Library ground floor.
Photograph 2002. tscH

The general party clearly divides the two essential elements of the program:
vertical and horizontal. The first one lodges on the main floor the reading rooms
for the library, with a capacity for 200 readers, the catalog reference and bibliog-
raphy room that forms a functioning unit together with the control and loan sec-
tion. In this level, the natural day-light enters, diffuses and gets a unique hue due
to onyx closures around the foundation. In a mezzanine at the same floor, the
library administration offices are found.

The vertical volume is divided into ten equal floors, with capacity for two mil-
lion books, magazines and microfilms. The design of these floors was very careful-
ly performed in order to have the best functionality with the least horizontal
routes. Each floor is close to the exterior and has constant weather and humidity
in order to improve book conservation; as well as a central circulation area that
allows the lodging of 170 thousand volumes per floor distributed in metallic

shelves at both sides of this central area.
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Il. Humanities

At the north of Campus central, Humanities complex is placed over a unique
longitudinal more than 300 meters long volume placed east to west. Divided into
three similar-sized fractions it lodges the Faculty of Philosophy and Arts, Law,
Economics, and Humanities Tower. The structure of this longitudinal volume is
made by a single concrete-frame module which repeats lengthwise, generating in
the main floor a sort of corridor that results in a fluid and transitory space, which
permits a spatial relation between the school circuit, the parking lots, and the
grand central plaza, evidencing the modern postulates of buildings over pilotis.
Over this main floor plan exists three more where are found the classrooms fac-
ing to the Campus central, and to the north the corridors.

The crystal facade looking south has concrete slab flanges achieving a total
transparency; those crystals are substituted in the northern facade by glazed clay
block closures, leaving few windows in order to protect from the cold; also next
to this facade are placed the prominent crystal bodies of the stair-modules.
Connected to the main longitudinal body in a perpendicular way, the Humanities
Tower and a rectangular volume laid over pilotis can be found, the latter origi-
nally functioned as the School of Political and Social Sciences (but since it was

moved to another area of the University City, now is used by the School of

Philosophy and Arts).
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Philosophy and Arts Faculty and Humanities Tower

This facility is located in the eastern side of the Humanities complex it was
designed by architects Enrique de la Mora, Manuel de la Colina and Enrique Landa;
and can be divided into three main units; the first unit is devoted to 27 different-
sized classrooms for groups about fifteen to a hundred students. The second unit,
located west of the first one, is the main link with the Central Library; here are
classrooms and the faculty local library for 40 thousand volumes. Finally, in the first
floor the administration and main offices are found; while in the ground floor a
portico communicates with the classroom section and with the auditorium lobby.

In the first floor of the Humanities Tower, located to the west, can be found
the Psychology Department, and in its basement the general services. The main
auditorium of this group named Justo Sierra is located north to the tower; recog-
nized also as one of the most important halls in all the Campus central, has inde-
pendent access form the parking lots and a total capacity for 630 spectators.

Humanities Tower is a quadrangular seven-floor prism, north-south longitudi-
nally positioned, that opens its facades to the east and west with large crystal and
metallic ironworks surfaces. It constrains the philosophical, historical, aesthetic,
philological and social research, providing to all of these areas space for adminis-
tration and main offices, meeting rooms, warehouse, working library and research

cubicles.

Classroom in the Humanities buil-
ding viewing to the grand central
plaza.

Photograph 2002. tscH

Page. 55.
Humanities building and esplanade.
Photograph 2000. LGR

Page. 56 top.
Humanities Tower | and
Auditorium Justo Sierra.
Photograph 2005. 0s

Page. 56 below.
Humanities main plan.
(original drawing 1951)
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Law Faculty

Before moving into the Campus central the old National Jurisprudence School
was consider as one of the most important and traditionally respected facilities of
the University; then it became the Law Faculty and occupied the central fraction
of the Humanities complex. Is subdivided into three areas: the one of the class-
rooms, 30 conference halls 64-students each; then the area known as annex is dis-
tributed in two floors with eight seminar rooms 30-student each; finally the local
library for five thousand volumes and the PhD area.

In the northern facade, the passages with a continuous large window are
found. This section includes the main entrance, a large hall with patios. The
administrative area is found in this hall, and also the access to the 250-spectator
auditorium. This part of the complex was designed by architects Alonso Mariscal

and Ernesto Gémez Gallardo.

Economics Faculty

Located in the east end of the Humanities complex, this school closes the com-
plex and is comprised of two main sections: annexes and classrooms. The class-
rooms that face south are scattered in the first three floors of the building.

The annex section comprises four elements: a 200-spectator auditorium, which
lies perpendicular to the classroom corridor; on the eastern side of the first floor
classroom corridor can be found the administration, surrounded by the Faculty
main offices, and at the end, the Economical Research Institute main offices; the
library with its book warehouse for eight thousand volumes and the reading room
are located on the second floor. Finally, the lab and four cubicles for degree can-
didates are located on the third floor.

The design of these buildings was performed by architects Vladimir Kaspé and
José Hanhausen, both of them famous designers of other very important school

premises around the country.
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Page. 58 top
Law Faculty. Humanities building.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 58 below
Economics Faculty.
Humanities building.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 60
Law Faculty plans
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 61
Economics Faculty plans
(original drawing 1951)
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lll. Biological Sciences

This group is located to the east of Campus central, gathered next to a second
open plaza, with smaller dimensions in comparison to the grand central plaza and
different pavements. The Dentistry School, the Medicine School and the
Biomedical Research Institute are part of this group, each in different buildings
(originally the building now occupied by the Biological Research Institute was the
Veterinary and Zootechnical Medicine School, but it was relocated to another
facility placed on the University City second circuit in order to satisfy the needs of
more space and new laboratories).

This group is located into one of the three platforms suggested by the Campus
central Master Plan; one large promenade that functions as a ramp connects this
platform, the lowest of the three, with the grand central plaza; and from this

point is easer to understand the project zoning.

Page. 62
Medicine School.
Photograph 2005. AA & RH

63






Dentistry School

Designed by architects Jesus Aguilar, Silvio A. Margain y Carlos Reigadas, this
school develops mainly over one east-west directed longitudinal volume and two
more bodies placed perpendicularly at both sides; one of this volumes has quad-
rangular proportions and gathers the access of the building on the main floor and
in the upper level the Auditorium; the other one lodges the Amphitheater. The lon-
gitudinal volume is devoted to classrooms; its southern facade opens widely with a
large group of windows that helps to create a directly visual connection with the
open plaza. The amphitheater's southern wall is covered by a mural named "“La
superacion del hombre por medio de la cultura” (Man self-improvement by means
of culture) made with colored glazed tiles by the artist Francisco Eppens.

The main volume has four floors, a ground floor and a basement. Diagnosis,
exodontia and radiodontia clinics are located in this building. It also includes
operating rooms with all of their required annexes. On the other side the admin-
istrative services can be found and nine labs linked to the classrooms. Two of them
are for 180-students and two for 100-students; gathered together with the library

and the exhibition room in the entrance portico.
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Page. 64
Dentistry School internal patio.
Photograph 2002. LscH

Page. 66 y 67
Dentistry School plans

(original drawings. 1951)




- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

Dentistry Faculty

EIFE

Planta Baja

- =
i I
1 i
L a
- -

Planta Basamento



"""""""""

Pisos 2 y 3




CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA




Description 69

e E
iy i .
el " L -
., qr e, g i E
Y 5 ! Ny
A | . A\, > 1
- = by !
e =y
: w
\-\. " .
5
™ “
r i
A b
. e = e, e e - -




- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

Page. 68-69

Dentistry School and the
Francisco Eppens mural in front.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 71 top

Medicine School and promenade.

Photograph 2005. os

Page. 71 below

Medicine School promenade,
access, ramps, and Francisco
Eppens mural .

Photograph 2004. AA & RH

Page. 72
Medicine School auditorium.
Photograph 2004. os

Medicine School

This outstanding building, work of architects Roberto Alvarez Espinoza, Pedro
Ramirez Vazquez y Ramon Torres, acts as the end of the Campus central main axis
at the east, which closes at the other side in the Olympic Stadium. The main build-
ing is elongated on the part facing north-south and another building with per-
pendicular axis is superimposed at the north end. Both buildings are connected by
a series of ramps that initiate in the ground level and end up in the fourth; this
element together with the monumental yellow louvers of the main building
remind us of the modern architecture ideas brought into the Campus central,
achieving the aspect of a "building-machine” but also maintaining a link with tra-
dition trough a mural placed on the second building next to the ramps, work by
Francisco Eppens. This piece as well as the Central Library murals by Juan
O'Gorman, stands as one of the few most renowned art-works integrated into
Mexican Modern Architecture.

Due to its specific needs, the Medicine School is located next to the road that
links directly with the Medical Center. The School is integrated by three main
units: the amphitheaters, the classrooms and the laboratories.

The first volume is built in a north-south direction and it has eight floors.
Services, warehouses, laundry and machines are located at the basement. The
arcaded main floor is devoted for halls and entrances. The next six floors lodge the
Principal Offices and the Administration; the library, reception and study areas in
the first two levels. The three-middle levels lodge amphitheatres for 25-students
each; and finally at the back is found the fan-shaped main lecture hall with a
capacity for 1000 spectators.

The second volume located at the north is linked with ramps to the first, as pre-
viously mentioned. It's an elongated module that repeats in eight levels, housing
twenty five laboratories for 60-students each, the classrooms, which two are for

300-students and seven for 150-students each; and for 45 research laboratories.
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Biomedical Research Institute

This building planned by architects Fernando Barbara Zetina, Felix Tena and
Carlos Solorzano, is one of the most bright and colorful architectural projects of
the complex; in part because shows a great dynamism with a rotated floor plan
connected to an arched-arm, but also because it perfectly articulates with one of
the Campus eastern vertexes as well as with the Schools of Medicine and
Chemistry.

The building main volume was developed from east to west. It has five levels
and it is intersected by a two-story low quadrangular block, which articulates with
the Medicine School main building. This main body, parallel at the south to the
Campus central main axis, initiates another longitudinal complex, similar to that
of Humanities, but in this case as a balancing element inside the Core Area; this
new elongated body is divided in order to give origin to Chemistry School.

The former building for the Veterinary and Zootechnical Medicine School can
be divided into two areas: the first one contents the government and administra-
tion services, the library for 20 thousand volumes, twelve classrooms for 60-stu-
dents each, eleven laboratories, and a conference hall for 200 people. The second
area is made by two bodies placed perpendicular among them and at the same

level, housing the general services and the researcher cubicles and laboratories.

Page. 73,74y 75
Medicine School plans
(original drawings. 1951)

Page. 76 y 77

Medicine School with Francisco
Eppens mural.

Photograph 2005. os

Page. 79 top

Chemistry School plan.
-Former Veterinary School.
(original drawing1951)

Page. 79 below

The old Veterinary and Zotechnical
School.

Photograph 2005. 0s
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[V. Sciences

This group is placed at the center and south of the Campus central. It lodges
the Chemistry and Engineering Schools, the Humanities Tower Il, the Postgraduate
Architecture School and the Cosmic Ray Pavilion. This is the only area of the orig-
inal Master Plan that has substantially changed, because the present Science
School is now found outside the Core Area, in the southeast of University City. It
changed due to school and research institute enlargement needs, because the

growing technological and scientific demand of the sixties required said expan-

sion. However, Chemistry and Engineering Schools remain in their original place.

Page. 80

Postgraduate Architecture School
building.

Photograph 2004. uLs







Chemistry School

The main volume is laid out over an extension of the axis marked by the
Biomedical Research Institute main building, from east to west in the southern
edge of the Campus. This building is intersected by a low volume which contains
services, the library and the school administration; to the west and without touch-
ing the first one, is set another volume which contains classrooms. The way this
buildings are set produces a central space, a sort of main patio that becomes the
meeting place for the community that also links to the entrance of the two audi-
torium-like main lecture halls; both isolated and designed following an interest-
ing volume which contrasts with the general geometry of the complex. They are
made out of light concrete shells with tensors of the same material that link the
cover to the floor, confined by volcanic rock closures. Compared to the general
complex these two halls have a small scale, but as the Cosmic Ray Pavilion, they
stand out due to their unconventional shape.

The main building work of architects Enrique Yanez, Enrique Guerrero y
Guillermo Rosell, is distributed as follows: in the arcaded main floor are, two
drawing rooms for 30-students each; repeated in four levels the prototype floor
has a corridor at south that runs trough the whole volume and windows all over
the north facade, here are twenty-four laboratories for 32 and 64-students, and
twelve more practice-classrooms. To the north of the main lobby, the main offices
and general services, as well as the library for 15 thousand volumes and its lecture
halls and research cubicles.

The second building, located to the south, lodges the classrooms for theoreti-
cal teaching and specialization laboratories. The auditoriums-salons with capacity
for 125 people can be joined to create an only auditorium with capacity for 250

spectators.

Description

Page. 82
Chemistry School building.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 84-85
Chemistry School plans.
(original drawing 1951)

83
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Page. 86-87 top
Chemistry School and ramp
Photograph 1988. AA & RH

Page. 86 below
Chemistry School terrace.
Photograph 1988. AA & RH

Page. 87 below
Chemistry School auditorium.
Photograph 2002. Joo
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Humanities Tower Il and Postgraduate Architecture School

The School of Science was placed previously here. Today this facility includes
the Humanities Tower I, the Alfonso Caso Auditorium and the Postgraduate
Architecture School. Laid out between two school circuit building corridors, it
divides the Campus central space in two: the grand central plaza and a smaller
second plaza, confined by the Biological Science complex. The Humanities Tower
Il'is a large volume; its height is similar to the Dean Tower, but it has a rectangular
elongated plan that opens towards the east and west by means of crystal and steel
facades in its whole surface, contained by glazed clay sides at north and south;
similar also to the Humanities Tower at the Humanities complex. This building is a
referent of international modernity, close to a Le Corbusier style by being elevated
over pilotis and rounded off by a terrace-roof.

An auditorium is located west of this tower; it also floats over concrete
columns, creating transparency on the ground floor where there is only an
entrance and a small hall. This building is known as Alfonso Caso Auditorium and
it has a capacity for 500 spectators, together with the Philosophy and Arts
Auditorium (Justo Sierra), both are consider as the Campus central main lecture
halls. The auditorium has a semi-curve wall on its foyer, just on top of a large win-
dow, where there is a mural, created by Jose Chavez Morado, following the idea
of plastic integration that can be appreciated over the whole complex, named “La
conquista de la energia, la ciencia y el trabajo" (The conquest of energy, science
and work).

Connected to the auditorium is the Postgraduate Architecture School building,
a close quadrangular floor plan building with three levels (the original diagram of
the building had a "u" or horseshoe form, opened to the south) and a central
patio; close to this patio is the library for 20 thousand volumes, is a structure of
five concrete frames with a different floor level at the east, a unique concrete-
frame module with crystal closures at the west and east, and at south covered by
a mural also work by Jose Chavez Morado named, “El retorno de Quetzalcoat!” (The
return of Quetzalcoatl), which is reflected by a the water pond underneath. At
west over the main floor formed by an arcade of concrete columns can be found
in two more levels a series of auditorium-like classrooms, protected from the sun-
light by a facade covered with vertical red terra-cota colored louvers. This unit was

designed by: Raul Cacho, Eugenio Peschard y Félix Sanchez.

Description 89

Page. 88
Postgradute Architecture School

building and Humanities Tower Il
at the back.
Photograph 2004. uts
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Humanities Tower Il and Postgraduate Architecture School
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Page. 90-91

Old Sciences complex general view,
today Humanities Tower Il, Alfonso
Caso Auditorium, and
Postgraduate Architecture School
with José Chavez Morado mural.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 92 top
Alfonso Caso Auditorium.
Photograph 2005

Page. 92 below
Humanities Tower Il
Photograph 2005. 0s

Page. 93,94y 95

Plans of the old Sciences complex,
today Humanities Tower I, Alfonso
Caso Auditorium, and
Postgraduate Architecture School.
(original drawing 1951)

Cosmic Ray Pavilion.
Photograph 2005. 0s

- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

Cosmic Ray Pavilion

Next to the Dentistry School, is found a structure known as Cosmic Ray
Pavilion; a small building part of the Science School that carries out research on
radiation. This structure was the result of intertwining the ideas of Jorge Gonzalez
Reyna with the advice and improvement of the well-known architect Félix
Candela, the most outstanding author of experiments with shapes covered by light
concrete shells, both nationally and internationally. This building is laid out over
a ten-meter wide times a twelve-meter long area, with a cover formed by a hyper-
bolic-parabolic wisely combined and sized. The cover width is just 15 millimeters
and it weighs less than 40 k/sq. m.

The Cosmic Ray Pavilion, even though is very small, contains the plastic and
constructive potential of light cover architecture, frequently used in markets,
warehouses, churches, restaurants and other buildings, in the significant Mexican

architecture of the fifties, which transcended the country borders.

PABELLON DE RAYOS COSMICOS
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Alzado Frontal y Lateral

Cosmic Ray Pavilion south facade
detail.
Photograph 2005. uLs
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Engineering School

This building was designed by architects Francisco J. Serrano, Fernando Pineda
and Luis MacGregor. It is constituted by three buildings; the first one is placed
over a north-south direction and contains in its three levels twenty-seven 50-stu-
dent classrooms, lighted on the southeast through fixed blinds made out of crys-
tal blocks that focus the light on the blackboard. There are also the entrance and
the connection with a southern volume by means of a bridge, as well as the main
hall which leads to the administration, meeting rooms, a library and a reading
room; all of this located in the northern wing of the main floor. The ground floor
has a main lecture hall for 500 spectators.

The second volume, on the north, is linked to the first one on the east, with
holders every ten meters and a double height, with zenithal lighting domes, mak-
ing a close reference to the Hispanic period spaces vaulted by small cupolas such
as San Gabriel Convent in Cholula, Puebla. Civil, petroleum, geology, topography,
sanitary, mechanical, electrical and aeronautic engineering labs are found in this
area of the building. A garden is used for hydro electrical tests and it is located
between this building and the northern wall which limits the grand central plaza
space.

The third body is located south, it has a complete display crystal that only lets
the slab concrete flanges be seen and is supported by pilotis as in other instances.
This body is linked to the first one by a bridge situated over a depression at ground
level result of the natural topographical condition of the Pedregal area. This build-
ing lodges eight drawing rooms in the first two floors and in the third the design

workshops. The main entrances are located at the ground floor.
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Page. 98 top
Engineering School corridor.
Photograph 2005. AA & RH

Page. 98 below

Engineering School classroom buil-
ding south facade.

Photograph 2002. LscH

Page. 100-101

Cupolas in the Engineering School
laboratories.

Photograph 1954. Asp

Page. 102

Engineering School bridge between
buildings.

Photograph 2002. LscH

Page. 103
Engineering School general plan

and ground floor plan.
(original drawings. 1951)
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V. Arts

This group is formed by the Architecture School and the University Sciences
and Arts Museum (MUCA). Is located west of the School Area and next to the Dean
Tower, close to Insurgentes Avenue. All of the Arts complex buildings were
designed by architects José Villagran Garcia, Alfonso Liceaga and Xavier Garcia

Lascurain.

Architecture School and University
Sciences and Arts Museum, MUCA.
Photograph 2004. uLs
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Architecture School and the University Sciences and Arts

Museum (Muca)

Architecture School is divided in two sectors: one comprises the workshop unit
and the other is formed by classrooms, offices, theater-auditorium, a museum and
a library. As a unique condition of architecture teaching, it was decided to build
eight isolated workshop-pavilions known as “los Talleres" (the workshops). Each
has two stories, and they are linked among them and with the rest of the complex
by arcaded passages. Every workshop is made up of a 50-student linear drawing
room, a workshop-room for different purposes and for visual education. The base-
ment and the upper floor have linear drawing rooms; one is for 20 students,
another one for 35 and the last one, for 50.

The second sector is a unit with library, linked to the foyer by means of a clois-
ter where the cafeteria is located. This hall distributes the entrances to the library,
to the Carlos Lazo Theater and to the University Sciences and Arts Museum
(MUCA). By this area, there are two longitudinal volumes connected at their edges,
forming a square, where the auditorium-classrooms, the administrative and gov-

ernment offices are found.
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Page. 106 top
Architecture School access foyer.
Photograph 2002. tscH

Page. 106 below

Architecture School north facade.
Photograph 2002. LscH
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Architecture School

Page. 108
Arts complex general plan.
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 109 top

“Los Talleres" (workshops) exterior
aspect.

Photograph 2002. Joo

Page. 109 below
Plan of one "Taller" (workshop).
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 110-111
Arts complex aereal view.
Photograph 2004. us
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Sports Fields

Keeping a congruous posture with the Modernity discourse, Modern
Movement in architecture, the recreation and sport practice should be a vital part
of the man welfare development; considering the importance of this idea and also
the great sports liking shown by Mexican youth, unam University City counts with
a huge number of sports fields, both for training and exhibition, and also out-
stands from other universities in the continent because of the enormous variety
and quality of its facilities. For making this possible it was devise, since the Master
Plan, the required space for these activities without sparing a square centimeter.
Therefore, the Sports Fields Zone is located south of the School Zone, forming a
triangular surface that complements itself at the west with the Olympic Stadium,
the edge of the Campus central main axis.

The following are remarkable sites within the sports fields: the Olympic Pool,

the Handball Courts and the Practice Stadium.

Description

Page. 112
Sports Fields areal view.
Photograph ca. 1974. J6
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Handball Courts

These unique structures show the sensitivity to synchronize Mexican tradition-
al architectural elements with contemporary architecture. With some essential
program requirements such as those of a handball court -four open and one
closed-, architect Alberto T. Arai achieves a great plasticity giving the complex
strength to define its Mexican Modern Architectural condition. The Handball
Courts are placed forming a diagonal line, unique inside the complex, they limit,
contain and articulate the sports fields' zone, besides forming different perspec-
tives, points of view and volumetric contrasts. Every handball court is settled as a
platform with a slope, an architectural element frequently used in Mesoamerican
architecture, an image that necessarily reminds us of the pre-Hispanic pyramids
and ball game courts.

University City Handball Courts are, together with the Central Library and the

Olympic Stadium, one of the most praised architectural constructions by the spe-

cialized critics of Modern Architecture historiography.
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Page. 114-115
Handball Courts.
Photograph 1954. csm

Page. 116
Closed Handball Court plan.
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 117 top
Open Handball Courts.
Photograph 1954. csm

Page. 117 below

East side of the closed Handball
Court.

Photograph 2005. 0s
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Page. 118 top
Olympic Pool.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 118 below
Olympic Pool.
Photograph 2005. os

Page. 119 top
Olympic Pool.
Photograph 1953. csm

Page. 119 below
Olympic Pool plan.
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 120-121
Olympic Pool.
Photograph 1953. csm
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Olympic Stadium

“Mexico University Olympic Stadium is precisely from Mexico. Among
all the structures which integrate University City, several of them raise to
the dignity of Mexican noteworthy architecture and its great tradition.
Within all of them the first one is the Stadium. We can see here the great
Mexican old tradition honoring modern times. However, this structure is
not an imitation but a creation in the most authentic sense and it is called
to occupy a place among the great works of the present and the future
architecture [...]".

Frank Lloyd Wright®

Designed by architect Augusto Pérez Palacios, the Olympic Stadium "is born
into the terrain following the same logic as the volcanic cones that form the land-
scape where it is found"4, is truly “an architectonized crater”.

The Stadium was the first construction built from the University City complex,
due to the acceptance of the whole Complex Construction Committee over its vol-
umetric and functionality. It was designed for all sorts of sports activities and it
stood out due to its performance during the Olympic Games held in 1968. The
external slope, formed by the rows on the east side, was decorated with a mural
named: “La Universidad, la familia y el deporte en México" (The University, family
and sports in Mexico), with colored stones in a high relief by the famous Mexican
painter and mural painter Diego Rivera.

Access from outside is by means of ramps that upon going up, allow people to
go into the middle of the stands; in order to take their seats, people go up or
below half the way.

The construction system which was adopted due to its unique shape can be
described as follows:

1. To dig in land and rock with the purpose of placing the game field at a lower
level than its entrances

2. The land which was extracted was used to make the foundation for the rows.

3. The same basalt masonry was used in the exterior to cover the stadium and
as retaining walls. Later on, it was decorated in order to emphasize the same

design concept shown in the rest of the buildings.

Description 123

Page. 122

View of the Olympic Stadium and
volcanos.

Photograph 2000. LGR

Page. 124-125

Aereal view of the Olympic
Stadium.

Photograph 2004. RC & HL

3: Frank Lloyd Wright compliment
upon visiting the Mexico
University City. Mentioned in:
Jiménez, Victor: "Augusto Pérez
Palacio y el Estadio de la Ciudad
Universitaria”. Published in:
Bitacora-arquitectura. Nr. 11.

Facultad de Arquitectura, UNAM
2004

4. Comment by Diego Rivera
regarding the Olympic Stadium.
Mentioned in Jiménez, Victor:
“Augusto Pérez Palacio y el Estadio
de la Ciudad Universitaria".
Published in: Bitacora-arquitectu-
ra. Nr. 11. Facultad de

Arquitectura, UNAM 2004.
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4. There is another tunnel besides the one that accesses the rows, so athletes
can go to the dressing rooms and game field.

5. The main or ceremonial entrance is located over the main axis, the one
which corresponds to the Dean Tower and the Campus central.

It can hold a seated audience of 80 thousand. It is comprised of 42 access tun-
nels for the audience that also serve as exits which enable people to evacuate the
stadium completely in 20 minutes. The communication booth, called “the pigeon
house”, is located in the highest part of the stands so it overlooks the whole sta-
dium and the Campus central.

The modernity shown by all the architecture from the Campus central de la
Ciudad Universitaria de la unam exemplifies the paradigm of a culminating
moment in Mexico political and cultural life towards the middle of the 20th cen-
tury; it is capable of representing contrasts and differences of Mexico through a
new identity. Its architectural quality is an unprecedented union achievement of

Mexican Modern architects.
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Page. 126
Olympic Stadium plans.
(original drawing 1951)

Page. 128-129 top
Olympic Stadium .
Diego Rivera mural.
Photograph 2004. Lc

Page. 128-129 below

Olympic Stadium views from the
interior.

Photograph 2004. uLs

Page. 130-131

Olympic Stadium views from the
interior.

Photograph 2004. uLs

Vistas derea del Estadio Olimpico.
Photograph 2004. uLs
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Muralism in University City

The Mexican Muralism tradition overcomes from the pre-Hispanic period.
Bonampack, in the Chiapas state, and Cacaxtla, in Tlaxcala, are model of ancestral
aesthetic, which since its origins, has cultivated the artistic forms generated by the
Mexican mentality; the result are representative pieces for the Mexican customs,

rites, and traditions; that reveal the deepest feelings of its the people.

Dean Tower

South Wall
El pueblo a la Universidad, la Universidad al pueblo
(The people to the university, the university to the people)

David Alfaro Siqueiros

This mural gave to Siqueiros the opportunity to perform a monumental sculp-
ture-painting, a work that established many conclusions about the technical lim-
itations and the specific conditions that an exterior mural requires; such as per-
spectives, the use of three-dimensional relief that harmonize with the three-
dimensional surrounding elements.

The composition main axis is given by the group of students located east to
west in the first plan, with the relief projected at the upper part of the figures,
establishing a double movement that runs from right to left and up to below.

The transition between this figures and the second plan is established by the
representation of the student which extended arms act as lines-force and delimi-
tate the simple composition.

The students have in their hands elements that allude to their occupations: a
compass, a pencil, a structure model, a book; and they approach to the people
offering the acquired knowledge. The representation is very eloquent and is syn-
thesized by the student that with one arm points out to the University and in the
other has a pencil pointing towards a direction that appears to get out the wall,
through the streets; as an allusion of the interaction between the people and the

University.
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Page. 132

Detail of David Alfaro Siqueiros
mural, El pueblo a la universidad,
la universidad al pueblo.
Photograph 2005. sp

5 Extracted text from: Guia de
murales de la Ciudad Universitaria.

Instituto de Investigaciones estéticas
y Direccion General de Patrimonio
Universitario. UNAM, 2004
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El pueblo a la universidad, la uni-
versidad al pueblo.

David Alfaro Siqueiros,
Photograph 2005. sp

Behind that figure, in the left upper part, in second plan, is located a student
demonstration, with small figures carrying flags, which symbolizes the insertion
and participation of the University students within the social problems.

Over this board, the representation, the scale and the way figures are treated,
correspond to the Siqueiros idea that murals should be appreciated by an specta-
tor moving close to the work, both walking or over a vehicle; so what is achieved
for dynamics is lost in detail, because the simplicity of the theme and the
schematic representation create that sensation of potential move, a characteris-
tic in the work of Siqueiros; which also introduces in the University a new plastic
and less rigid treatment of the mural integrated in architecture.

In spite of his reserves towards this mural -he considered it was poor, espe-
cially with regard to the technique-, Siqueiros practiced some of the approaches
that made in 1932 in The Vehicles of the subversive dialectic painting; such as the
necessity of producing murals in open spaces; murals that correspond to the con-
temporary life; the moving spectator, considering the dynamics and a representa-
tion using many angles; also the use of materials and tools as the acrylics, cement,
aluminum, iron; and supported in expression forms that supposed a modern own
language like the cinema or photography; all determined by his aesthetic idea

about an eloquent and functional political art, a modern social realistic art.
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North Facade
Las fechas en la historia de México o el derecho a la cultura
(The dates in Mexican history or the right to culture)

David Alfaro Siqueiros

This mural has a significant structural form. One arm with two interlaced
hands, a third one outstands in relief, and one pencil writes over an open book; in
the pages of this book are written some of the important dates of our history:
1521, the conquest; 1810 the independence; 1857 the liberal constitution; 1910
the revolution; and at the bottom he aggregates number one and nine as one
thousand nine hundred followed by two interrogations which symbolized the
expectative for the future. The arm with the interlaced hands represents the peo-

ple effort through history for reach the popular culture.

Las fechas en la historia de México
o el derecho a la cultura.

David Alfaro Siqueiros.
Photograph 2005. 0s
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East Facade
Nuevo Simbolo Universitario
(New University Symbol)

David Alfaro Siqueiros

On the east facade, over an upper wall that overhangs from the Dean Tower,
Siqueiros left unconcluded the mural also known as New University Emblem. The
plastic composition of this work is complex because its structure is based on diag-
onal lines that cross it. On both sides appear the streamlined figures of an eagle
and a condor, evoking the university emblem, designed by a request of Jose
Vasconcelos to Jorge Enciso it symbolizes the Latin America unity. In the center
appears a triangle.

Unlike the other murals, the composition of this is flat and has no relief. It has
a minor surface and is situated in the higher place, therefore, a greater distance
is required to observe it; the pedestrian that transit over the main esplanade have

an appropriate visual perspective.

Nuevo Simbolo Universitario,

David Alfaro Siqueiros.
Photograph 2005. 8P




Central Library

Juan 0'Gorman

Without any doubt, the Central Library as a whole constitutes the aesthetic
paradigm that supported the construction of the University City and that, under
the name of plastic integration, aspired to do of the architecture, the painting and
the sculpture an aesthetic unity totally reconciled.

For this work, it was necessary to collect natural stones of ten different colors
from several areas of the country in order to make sure that the colors would resist
outdoors. In addition, the volcanic stone was selected for the basement ornament-
ed with sculptural relief of pre-Hispanic inspiration, allusive to the God Tlaloc.

In respect to its iconography, in each one of the four walls that conform the
surface of the great mosaic is developed a different thematic related to history
from Mexico; in the North wall, the pre-Hispanic time; in the South wall, the
Hispanic period, from the conquest, and the western world, according to the inter-
pretations of Ptolomeo and Copérnico; and in the orient and the west walls, the

contemporary time, through the Mexican revolution and the university, like sym-

bol of modernity.

Description

Central Library.
Juan O'Gorman
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Olympic Stadium

La universidad, la familia y el deporte en México
(The University, family and sports in Mexico)

Diego Rivera

Diego Rivera made in 1954 this mural under the technique of polychrome relief.

The project to integrate a plastic work in the facade of a stadium had an
antecedent: Diego Rivera itself had made it, by request of Vasconcelos, in 1924, at
the main entrance of the National Stadium, today destroyed.

The original project of Rivera, of year 1952, for the University City Stadium
consisted of the construction of a great relief that would go throughout the bor-
der slope and in that it tried to integrate a nationalist subject. This subject would
be pre-Hispanic Mexico and modern Mexico, represented by means of the sport
and united through the University, peace and family.

The represented subject is the University emblem, with the American condor
and eagle settled over the Mexican prickly pear. Their extended wings shelter three
anthropomorphous figures: man and woman who unite their hands in the half-
caste son to whom they give the dove, symbol of the peace. In the ends, flanking
the emblem, two gigantic figures, a masculine athlete to the left and to the right
a feminine sportswoman, ignite the torch of the Olympic fire.

Finally, the serpent with feathers ornaments the inferior part, image of
Quetzalcoatl, which remembers plastic the pre-Columbian one, has inlays of
corncobs.

Thus, Rivera drew up on the wall its polychrome figures with harmony and
rhythm; he united with the ancestral Mexican tradition of decorating buildings
with paintings and sculptures, providing a remarkable example of contemporary

plastic integration.
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Page. 138 top

La universidad, la familia y el
deporte en México

Diego Rivera

(Olympic Stadium),
Photograph ca. 1980. ve

Page. 138 below
La conquista de la energia
José Chavez Morado

(Auditorium Alfonso Caso)
Photograph 2005. sp
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Alfonso Caso Auditorium. Humanities Tower Il

La conquista de la energia
(The conques of energy)

José Chavez Morado

Over the Alfonso Caso auditorium convex wall, the Mexican painter Jose
Chavez Morado made a mural in the superior part of the facade since in the infe-
rior part ample large windows exist. Because of its elevated position, this work has
a suitable perspective within University City complex.

The mythical-symbolic composition of the mural represents the fight of the
mankind to find a vital source from the discovery of the fire to the fission of the

atom.

Medicine School

La vida, muerte, el mestizaje y los cuatro elementos
(Life, death, cross-breeding and the tour elements)

Francisco Eppens Helguera

This is one of the University City murals that exert a major visual impact over
the spectator, by its dimensions in front of an ample ascending esplanade, from
where its monumental character is accentuated.

Executed with the technique of the glazed tiles, its importance also resides in
the incorporation of an ample set of symbols that remind us the pre-Hispanic
world: the life and the death and the four elements -water, air, earth and fire-. In
the middle of the piece, in front of Coatlicue, it appears a head of three faces that
represents the cross-breeding: the face of the Spanish father, to the right,
opposed to the one of the indigenous mother, to the left, to integrate at the cen-

ter the face of the half-caste Mexican.

Description 141

Page. 138

La vida, muerte, el mestizaje y los
cuatro elementos,

Francisco Eppens Helguera.
Photograph 2005. sp




CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA






- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

Page. 142-143

Campus central de la Ciudad
Universitaria aereal view.
Photograph 2004. Rc & HL

Page. 145

Beginning of University City
construction.

Photograph 1949/1950. csm

Authors of the Campus Central de la Ciudad Universitaria de

la unam

Projects were developed under the supervision of the General Master Plan
Office in charge, as was previously mentioned, of architects Enrique del Moral and
Mario Pani who, besides being the authors of the Master Plan, coordinated the
building projects for University City, carried out by architectural teams who had

been designated for that purpose.

Regardless of the fundamental task of formulating the Master Plan, the
General Master Plan Office was entrusted with the following:

1. It coordinated the general program and the programs for the several buildings.

2. It established the location, grouping and the adequate performing for those
buildings.

3. It planned and made the zoning for University City terrain.

4. It designed a convenient traffic system, considering an adequate relation
with Mexico City.

5. It marked the location of the fundamental water, cleaning, telephone and
electricity networks.

6. It made detailed projects for all the open spaces, such as: esplanades, plazas,
sports fields, parking lots, etc.

7. It made the projects for the secondary elements that complement the com-
plex, such as: overpasses, arcades, stores, fountains, water ponds, etc.

The authorship of the Campus central buildings is presented as follows:

Master Plan

Manager Architects: Mario Pani and Enrique del Moral

Dean Tower

Designers: Mario Pani, Enrique del Moral and Salvador Ortega

Central Library
Designers: Juan 0'Gorman,

Gustavo Saavedra, Juan Martinez de Velasco
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Philosophy and Arts Faculty

Designers: Enrique de la Mora, Enrique Landa and Manuel de la Colina

Law Faculty
(Originally the Jurisprudence School)

Designers: Ernesto Gomez Gallardo and Alonso Mariscal

Economics Faculty
(Originally the Economics, Commerce and Administration School)
Designers: Vladimir Kaspé, José Hanhausen, Augusto H. Alvarez and

Ramon Marcos

Medicine School
Designers: Roberto Alvarez Espinosa, Pedro Ramirez Vazquez, Raman Torres,

and Héctor Velazquez

Chemistry School
Designers: Enrique Yanez,

Enrique Guerrero, Guillermo Rossel

Dentistry School
Designers: Carlos Reygadas, Silvio Margain, Francisco Gomez Palacios

and José Aguilar

Biomedical Research Institute
(Originally the Veterinary School)

Designers: Fernando Barbara Zetina, Félix Tena and Carlos Soldrzano

Humanities Tower Il and Architecture Postgraduate School
(Originally the Science School and Institutes)

Designers: Raul Cacho, Eugenio Peschard, Félix Sanchez and Jorge Gonzalez Reyna

Engineering School

Designers: Francisco J. Serrano, Luis Mc Gregor and Fernando Pineda
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Architecture School and University Sciences and Arts Museum (MUCA)

Designers: José Villagran Garcia, Javier Garcia Lascurain and José Alfonso Liceaga

Vocational Advice Center
(Originally the Central Club)

Designers: Jorge Rubio, Eugenio Urquiza and Carlos B. Zetina

Olympic Stadium

Designers: Augusto Pérez Palacios, Jorge Bravo and Raul Salinas

Sports Fields
(Sport practice area)
Designers: Enrique Carral, Martinez Paez

Supervisor: Felipe Gomez

Olympic Pool and Dressing Rooms
(Sport practice area)

Designers: Félix T. Nuncio, Ignacio Lopez Bancalari and Enrique Molinar

Handball Courts
(Sport practice area)
Designer: Alberto T. Arai

Supervisor: Sergio Cevallos

Closed Handball Court
(Originally the Gym)

Designer: Antonio Pastrana, Raul Alvarez and Raul Fernandez

General Services
Designers: Rolando Gutiérrez Dominguez,

Marcial Gutiérrez Camarena and Manuel Pizarro

Urban Design and Integration with Mexico City
Designers: Pedro Ramirez Vazquez, Jorge Gonzalez Reyna, Alberto J. Flores

and Luis Barragan

Forestation and Gardening

Designers: Luis Barragan and Alfonso Cuevas Aleman
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Mexico City Plan.

(Mexico Royal and Pontifical
University, D Building).
1769

San Carlos Academy.
Photograph ca. 1929




b. History and development

University Foundation

The Mexico National Autonomous University (UNAM) presence within Mexico
City life started a little more than 450 years ago. Founded by a royal certificate
order issued in 1551 by King Philip II of Spain under the name of Mexico Royal
University, it was the first one in America. The Latin Dialogues chronicle published
in 1554 by Francisco de Cervantes de Salazar talks about the founding conditions
and about the first days of the new university. In the New Spain, there had already
been intentions of founding a university. In fact, since 1537, Fray Bartolomé de las
Casas, well-known for his noble wish to protect the natives of conquered lands,
had strived to establish a higher-education institution for the new conquered ter-
ritory5 that created knowledgeable men capable of disseminating the latest
expression of the culture of their time.

The Mexico Royal and Pontifical University, as this first university of the con-
tinent was known, was placed since the 16th century until the middle of the 20th
century at the Historical Center of Mexico City; it first remained until 1594 behind
the Metropolitan Cathedral, on Escalerillas Street; after that, it was moved to the
next block, south of the Royal Palace, into a big house which construction start-
ed in 1584. This new building was just in front of the Volador Plaza and across the
Major Plaza, crossing the Royal Stream. University life gave significant energy to
Mexico urban conditions; writings such as the Bernardo de Balbuena “Mexican
Greatness" from 1605 or the various writings of Carlos de Sigiienza y Gongora,
from the same period, recount of this. Figures such as the well-known writer Juan
Ruiz de Alarcon contributed to the grandeur of Colonial Mexico cultural life
through the University.

It was until the 17th century that the building was renewed. Once concluded in
1775 in a late baroque style, better known as “churrigueresque” and very deeply-
rooted in the country at that time, the University building was considered as one
of the best in the capital city. It was a building with a large internal patio with
arcades on its four sides. “In its space, it had a library (the first library in servicing
the New Spain), cloisters, the classrooms and the National Museum. The staircase

was a superb sample of baroque art. Its entrance arch was double, supported over

Description 149

1- Ortiz Macedo, Luis. "La funda-
cion de la Real Universidad de
México; su contexto urbano y pri-
meros edificios”. In: AAW. Un
Destino Compartido. 450 afios de
presencia de la Universidad en la
Ciudad de México. México, UNAM.
2003.




- CAMPUS CENTRAL DE LA CIUDAD UNIVERSITARIA

2 Boils Morales, Guillermo.

“La Ciudad de los Palacios y la
Universidad”. In: AA.W. Un Destino
Compartido. 450 afios de presencia
de la Universidad en la Ciudad de
México. México, UNAM. 2003.

robust pilasters; it hung at the center without any column or support. It was all
covered with the richest relief [...] the facade had the same style, work of architect
lldefonso de Iniesta y Bejarano, [...] it was all carved in quarry stone, its architec-
ture belonged to the compound order by paired pilasters ornamented with mould-
ings; the pedestals, bases, architraves and cornices were carved and the asymmetry
that is prescribed by the aforementioned architectural order formed three bodies;
the first one had Civil Right, Medicine and Philosophy carved statues in half-relief;
the second one showed Theology and Canonical Law; and in the third, under the
real coat of arms, an oval with the image of Charles Ill stood out."6.

The building suffered alterations again at the end of the 18th century, this
time it was due to the introduction of the neoclassical style, and in 1789 the
whole facade was redesigned on behalf of Charles IV, who thought it was too
archaic. Nine years before that, the San Carlos Academy had been founded, also
as the first school of architecture and arts of the continent, that was directly
linked to the University and entrusted with the education of architects and artists
with a neoclassical view. This was an alternate building inside the center of the
city located on the street which is currently called Academia Street, just behind
the Government Palace. Another building which was an important part of the
University was the renowned Mining Palace, whose construction was performed
from the 18th to the 19th century. Designed by the sculptor and architect Manuel
Tolsa, this building showed the beginnings of rationalism and cartesianism which
would flood University thinking through the Enlightenment introduced by the
Bourbon reforms. The Mining Palace acted as the Royal Mining School and it
would later become the National Engineering School.

As the same as the Architecture and Engineering Schools had already occupied
premises around the city, the Medicine School was placed into the former
Inquisition Palace, located in the north-eastern corner of Saint Domingo Plaza. The
architect in charge of adapting the building for said purpose was the renowned
Pedro de Arrieta, one of the main promoters of baroque style in middle 18th cen-
tury. Around this same date, San Pedro and San Pablo Colleges were already part
of the University. The need to use up more space inside the city grew, making use
of the court architecture of the central area of the city. The San lldefonso Antique
College, built by Jesuits in the first half of the 18th century, began to be used by

the University when the Jesus Company was expelled from the Colonies territory.



On the first three decades of the 19th century, the University already occupied
a great number of buildings in the Mexico City downtown area; however, it was a
hard time because the Independence War had just ended and the country was not
going through economically stable time. Most of the University mayor problems
occurred in the middle of the 19th century. The liberal government enacted sev-
eral laws about education and some of them provided that the University was to
become extinct; in fact it was closed on several occasions. From 1833 to 1865, the
University was closed and opened several times, and in 1865, the Emperor
Maximilian closed it definitely. This was a consequence of the struggle in the
Independent Mexico between the conservatives and the liberals; for the second
ones the University, heiress of the Real and Pontifical, represented the old regime,
they searched for state and lay education. In the times of President Porfirio Diaz
Dictatorship (a thirty-year period), the University was kept closed. During that
time, the High School was founded; this period is known as the “schools era”
because higher education was given only through schools.

In September 22, 1910, the Public Education Minister, Justo Sierra, inaugurat-
ed the Mexico National University. This renewed university opened its doors dur-
ing a critical time, the starting of the Mexican Revolution; it was conformed by
the national schools of Jurisprudence, Medicine, Dentistry, Engineering, Fine Arts
(Architecture only), High School and the novel Higher Studies National School,
which was a french-german model for research studies. The building on the
Volador Plaza was destroyed as the symbol of the birth of a new University and
new study plans, leaving the rest of the premises as part of it. The University start-
ed its courses with a population of almost two thousand students and with only
three-hundred teachers.

The Mexican Revolution had ended as an armed movement by 1920 and the
revolutionary governments were trying to rebuild the country for the sake of
democracy. In 1929, the Mexico National University achieved its autonomy by
means of a presidential decree, in order to stand for cultural development and sci-
entific education purposes; its name was then established as the one we know
today: Mexico National Autonomous University (UNAM).

From that time the city started recovering its natural urban life, including stu-
dents’ life. Mexico City lodged new social and intellectual postures of the time. The

followers of José Vasconcelos stood on one part and they were looking for a
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national identity of values based on education, on the other hand, there were the
ones who were enticed by the cosmopolitanism of the first decades of the 20th
century. UNAM students showed a great interest in this national reconstruction,
having a great influence in the political and intellectual life of the country. There
came a time when the center of the city was known as “the student quarter”, due

to the influence of the University located in the heart of the Capital City.
University City creation

University City was a lingering project over for the minds of University mem-
bers since a long time. The Architecture School thought of a University City since
1928, when Mauricio de Maria y Campos along with Mariscal Gutiérrez Camarena
submitted in their professional thesis in order to get their degree, a project for a
University City. This bid was developed where the current Huipulco hospital zone
is located, also at the southern part of the Mexico City.

It was decided in 1943 that the University City would be located on the vol-
canic layer zone named “Pedregal de San Angel” over the terrains selected for that
purpose. The dean at that time was Rodulfo Brito Foucher.

The University proposed the State Government to issue a law “regarding the
founding and construction of the University City". This law was approved by the
Congress in December 31, 1945. The dean at the time was Genaro Fernandez
McGregor.

The National School of Architecture called for a bid of proposals to design the
Master Plan, among professors Mauricio M. Campos, Augusto H. Alvarez, Vladimir
Kaspé, Alonso Mariscal, Augusto Pérez Palacios, Mario Pani, Marcial Gutiérrez
Camarena, Javier Garcia Lascurain and Enrique del Moral. The jury consisted of the
participants themselves and was based on the general ideas of the program
defined by the Commission and transmitted by architect Enrique del Moral, who
was the Faculty chairman.

The jury failed in favor of the works submitted by architects Mario Pani and
Enrique del Moral, therefore, as previously agreed, both were declared to head the
development of the Master Plan presented years later by the school. Architect
Mauricio M. Campos was invited to work in the project management, due to the

interest he had shown years before on the construction of a University City.



Given the enthusiasm of the professors and students for participating in the
project, it was decided that the School would not only submit a preliminary
Master Plan but each of the complex's buildings would be developed separately by
project teams. For each of the buildings preliminary design a team led by one or
two professors was appointed; they would take into account the ideas of senior
students, who worked jointly with junior students, who were making the drafts.

Such was the importance of senior students' ideas that the project managers
decided to use as basis for the Master Plan, a scheme made by the 5th grade stu-
dent Enrique Molinar, and 4th grade students Teodoro Gonzalez de Le6n and
Armando Franco.

The jury consisting of the Mexico National Architects College President, archi-
tect Federico Mariscal; the Mexican Architects Society representative, architect
Guillermo Zarraga, and the Dean representative, architect Enrique Yafiez, failed in
favor of the project submitted by the Architecture School. The criterion taken into
account to select a winner was exclusively the evaluation of the Master Plan, as
specified from the beginning.

In June, 1947, Dean Zubiran organized the Management Technical
Commission, substituting the Commission which had been operating until the end
of President Avila Camacho regime. The Commission presided by the Dean consist-
ed of, architect José Villagran Garcia, the Dean executive representative, lawyer
Diaz Canovas, the personal representative of the Republic's President, engineer
Alberto J. Flores, the National Engineering School chairman, and architect Enrique
del Moral, the National Architecture School chairman.

This new Commission named architects Enrique del Moral, Mario Pani, and
Mauricio M. Campos as the General Managers of the Master Plan; conferring them
also the capacity to select the architects in charge of the design of every faculty,
school, institute and any other building required by the University City. It also
negotiated the integration of a group of advisors and consultants from every sec-
tion of the University, to elaborate a program of needs for each building.

Doctor Luis Garrido was appointed as the new Dean in June 10, 1948; so the
Commission works restarted on 1949. After the death of Mauricio M. Campos in
March of the same year, Enrique del Moral and Mario Pani were ratified by the
new University authorities as Managers of the Master Plan Project and of the spe-

cific projects, carrying also with the task of selecting the architects who would be
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Campus central de la Ciudad
Universitaria aereal view.
Photograph 1953. cMA

charged with these projects; the ratification of del Moral and Pani accelerated the
conclusion of the corresponding relative programs for which special advisors and
consultants had been appointed.

The works begun in October, 1949, but were unfortunately progressing at a
very low pace, due to the insufficiency of funds, as the only ones available were
the dividends from a five million pesos investment in Mortgage National Banc
Bonds, from the original University endowment.

The University knew about the strong interest of the then President of the
Republic, Miguel Aleman, on the construction of University City, and of the short
time left to make the most of this good will, therefore, the University considered
necessary to reorganize the University Patronage by appointing Carlos Novoa,
then president of Mexico Banc, as the Patronage President; and Eduardo Suarez
and David Thierry.

The scant funds that the University had for the construction of its new
Campus were exhausted rapidly; however, the accurate appointing of Carlos
Novoa as president of the University Patronage, bring benefits to the University,
due to his important financial position, and also because his close relationship
with President Aleman. Therefore, he managed to obtain from the Federal
Government the necessary funds for the construction of University City.

In spite of the above, the total control of the works remained in hands of the
University through the University Patronage, which is charged with the econom-
ic management. In March, 1950, the Patronage created the entity denominated
Mexico University City, with Carlos Novoa also as president and appointed as
General Manager, architect Carlos Lazo, who assumed the task of materializing the
projects already designed.

Carlos Lazo performance during the building of the Campus central de la
Ciudad Universitaria de la uNam was brilliant. Surrounded by a magnificent group
of collaborators, he knew how to create a true mystique of self-improvement and
efficiency among all the participants, including architects, engineers and workers;
as a result works were performed with economy, order and unusual speed.
Finished in less than three years, in November 20, 1952 was possible to celebrate
a solemn ceremony under the name of: "University City dedication”, were
President Aleman, only a few days before the end of his term, was able to saw the

finished work in which he had placed so much interest and determination.



Projects were developed under the General Master Plan Office in charge of, as
already stated, architects Enrique del Moral and Mario Pani; regarding the task of
the Master Plan design, they were also coordinating the design of the buildings
that would conform University City, those specific projects were elaborated by
teams of architects selected also by this Office.

In sum, aside from carrying out the Master Plan, the General Master Plan
Office was in charge of the detailed projec